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THE SCOTTISH GENEALOGY
SOCIETY

present

“MY AIN FOLK”

The Society are running
“SCOTTISH FAMILY HISTORY EVENING XWORKSHOPS”

at their Library and Family History Centre at
15 VICTORIA TERRACE, EDINBURGH.

\X/e would welcome enquiries from
LOCAL HISTORY SOCIETIES, FAMILY HISTORY GROUPS,

CHURCH GROUPS, CLUBS,.... In fact ANY GROUPS
interested in researching their family history.

THE MAXIMUM NUMBER PER GROUP IS @

A TEAM OF OUR LIBRARY VOLUNTEERS
\Y/ILL BE IN ATTENDANCE TO ANSWER YOUR
QUESTIONS AND TO GIVE ADVICE.

The complete facilities of our Library are available for
your use on these evenings including....

OUR COMPLETE COLLECTION OF SCOTTISH
___ _OLD PARISH RECORDS MICROFILMS.

For further details please contact either
Dr JAMES CRANSTOUN or JOHN D. STEVENSON
at info@scotsgenealogy.com or 0131 220 3677.

/e are The Scottish Genealogy Society and, therefore,
can hopefully answer your queries‘relating to the
whole of Scotland and not just to a local area!

MY AIN FOLK -
- \WHO \XWERE THEY?
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GENEALOGICALFACTSAND SCOTTISHHISTORY

by David Affleck

N,

In March 2005, I gave a talk to the society on the theme, Revisiting Scottish History
through Family History. It was the third of a series of talks I had given over that winter
on aspects of Auchinleck family history in the 16™ century. Italso todk place at the time
of publication of an article in the Spring 2005 edition of the Tay Valley Family History
Journal on the hidden story of the gravestone 105 in the Howff at Dundee and its link
with the Auchinlecks of Dundee, Fife and Balmanno. That last article had attracted the
interest of the Lindsay Clan in Australia as it had suggested that the Auchinlecks of
Balmanno and Gienbervie and their ancestors were closer to the Douglas family
network from at least the 14™ century and not the Lindsay clan. |

The presentation to the Scotiish Genealogy Society had three themes.

The interface between genealogy and local history.

In 1973, Professor Barrow had given a talk on the occasion of the Scottish Genealogy
Society’s twenty- fifth anniversary when he said

Historians are still regrettably apt to scatter their pages with airy generalisations.
They must constantly be brought down to earth with facts and genealogical facts are
some of the earthiest facts we have. One of the most important tasks for the genealogist
is to maintain the supply and improve the quality of the genealogical data available
for the historian. It is then up to the historian to become aware of this .

* Ananalysis of the background to the Douglas of Glenbervie ancestry and its family
network in the early 16" century including the link with James 4™ Earl of Morton
and Regent of Scotland from 1572 to 1578.

« An account of my research into the genealogy of the Auchinlecks of Balmanno,
their links with the Auchinlecks of Glenbervie and a reconstruction of this Douglas
/Auchinleck network and its part in aspects of 16" century Scottish history.

There were five key people at the centre of this presentation. Firstly there was
Archibald, 5th Earl of Angus, the man later described as Bell the Cat. As head of the
Red Douglas line and the 5th Earl of Angus, he obtained the remaining lands of the
Black Douglas line when, 1 1496, Hugh, the last of the Black Douglas line and Dean
of Brechin, resigned all.claims he had to-the earldom’s of Douglas, ‘Avondale and
Ormond in favour of Archibald. We know a lot about him, a man who tackled an
unpleasant job he saw as necessary, a man who disagreed with his King over the battle
plan at Flodden and returned north having charged his two eldest sons, George, Master
of Angus and William Douglas of Glenbervie to defend the family honour. But as in
so much of Scottish history we need to be careful in what i1s handed down to-us,
especially when Hume of Godscroft who wrote Hisfory of the House and Race of

The Scottish Gened-fugfﬂ 3




Douglas and Angus was asked by his mother, Alison, to write a history that did credit
to the family, and she was a daughter of the 5th Earl. Sir William Fraser in his much
more thorough History of the Douglas Family was cautious in accepting the account
of Hume and the story of the hangings at the bridge at Lauder. Similarly, F. Hume
Brown, Fraser Professor to the Chair of Scottish History at Edinburgh University and
the key text book historian for many of my generation at school, was also hesitant in
accepting the romantic account of the Lauder episode as described by the Fife
historian, Robert Lindsay of Pitscottie who lived around 1520 to around 1565, that is,
after the events, Yet here was a man who isreifemred to as having refused tomarch under
King James I1T at the muster of the army at Lauder in 1482 but by 1488, he is Guardian
of the young King James IV and a Lord of Council and in 1492 he was made Chancellor
of Scotland, first referred to in that capacity in August 1492. And it was in that year,
in the month of September, that he was to receive the gift of the ward of the lands of
the deceased James Auchinleck.

In 1999, an earlier aspect of my research into the early Auchinlecks was published in
the Society’s quarterly journal. This had posed questions on the comments of late 19%
century researchers such as Andrew Jervise and his local history references to the
Afflecks of Angus and the contrast with the 1dentified list of ministers with the name
of Auchinleck as recorded 1n Fasti Ecclesiae Scoticanae. Since that time, it became
clear to me that to unravel the early Auchinlecks, you had to understand the Douglas
network. It was an aspect that Michael Brown had already identified in his work on the
Black Douglases, especially the retinue of notaries. Study of a number of charters and
deeds involving the Douglas lands had invaluable information to compile an Auchinleck
family network closely linked to the changes in the retrenchiment of Douglas power.
By the late 15th Century, Glenbervie in the Mearns had become the main power base
ofthe Auchinlecks of that Ilk until the intervention of Bell the Cat. About amonth after
Archibald’s appointment as Chancellor of Scotland, Sir John Auchinleck of Auchinleck
had been living at his “place™ at Glenbervie on the 6th October 1492 when on the
King’s instructions an order dated 29th September 1492 was proclaimed at his place
at Auchinleck and at the cross of Ayr. As a consequence of that action, the twelve year
old daughter of the late James Auchinleck was made ward of Beli the Cat and would
remain so unless she married his eldest son, the tiventy-year old William. The
Auchinleck lands of Rogerton in Ayrshire had been invested by Sir John to Giles Ross
of Hawkhead on her marriage to his son James, which old Sir John thought he had a
right to, and were placed under the wardship of Archibald the 5th Earl who then had
the right to their income. Nearly twenty years of litigation were to follow. Firstly, John
the second son and parson of Glenbervie acted as procurator for Sir John, his father,
appealed fo the Lords of the Council to seek an action of reduction for the lands *gotten
betwene him and Giles the Rosse’ because

the sade Jhone was nocht summond personaly na yet at his duelling place, the
quhilk was at Glenbervie, bot at ther castell of Auchinlecas wasallegit’ and that
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Elizabeth ‘took infeftment of the King wheras she ought to have held of the
same John Auchinlek.

The hitigation continued. After John, parson of Glenbervie and the second son of Sir
John died, (before 1501,) the claim was pursued by his young son, James, a minor.
Earlier, 1n 1494, an application had been made in to establish his legitimacy. With the
help of two tutors, both significant in the Church of the time, Alexander Auchinleck,
rector at Glenbervie, and George Hepburmn, Dean of Dunkeld, he then sought toretrieve
his inheritance but was unsuccessful, The marriage of William and Elizabeth went
ahead in 1501, only to be challenged by James and his tutors on the grounds of legal
incapacity, a process that went to Rome for determination by the Pope. By the time the
Church had resolved the matter with Elizabeth‘s legitimacy being confirmed by the
Archbishop of Glasgow in 1512, William and Elizabeth had two children, James V
had granted the Auchinleck estate and barony to a branch of the Boswell’s of Fife and
the barony of Auchinleck and the later'ﬁﬁansiﬂn house became associated with the
Boswell family. William and Elizabeth eventually agreed that the young James could
occupy part of the Glenbervie lands a:nd then 1513 arrived. William, the second son
of Bell the Cat, did not return from Flodden field and within eight years, Elizabeth, his
widow had become a founder member of the Convent of St Catherine of Sienna at
Sclennes in Edinburgh, where she was to remain until its destruction in 1560 at the
Reformation.

I had stumbled into the saga of Bell-the-cat and the “gift” of the lands by chance. I had
become curious about a man called George Auchinleck of Balmanno who had a place
in Scottish history as the chamberlain of James Douglas, 4th Earl of Morton, Regent
of Scotland during part of the minority of James VI. Described by Hume of Godscroft
as an arrogant upstart, he has also been more recently analysed in a study of Morton
by Dr. George Hewitt. He was a man I was keen to find out more about but the more
I tried to do this, the more errors 1 came across in the research of previous historians.
The trail had become complex through the marital affairs of George Douglas, son of
George Douglas, Master of Angus, who was the eldest son of Archibald, the 5th Earl,
and later to become Sir George Douglas of Pittendreich. Fraser’s major research
suggests he had two sons to his wife who was heiress to the lands of Pittendreich near
Elgin and that 1s how he acquired this land. He is also reported to have told Sadler the
representative of the English Court that he acknowledged he had only ever made one
oath - and he had broken that- it was to his wife. His legitimate sons were to become
David the 7th Earl of Angus, (died 1557) and James, 4th Earl of Morton, Regent of
Scotland, but there were also five illegitimate-children, four daughters and one son.
The daughters were to play a part in my reconstruction.

George Auchinleck of Balmanno and his father, Andrew.

In the post Flodden era, another Auchinleck family network had emerged and this
became even more interesting when I located the will of the father of George
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Auchinlieck of Balmanno, something missed by previous researchers. In the will of an
Andro Auchinlek of Petdreichie in the Parish of Glenbervie who died on the 15th
February 1582, he referred to George Auchinlek of Balmanno as his lawful elder son
and his four brothers, Archibald, James, Adam and John. Their mother, Andrew’s first
wife, had previously been identified as a Jane Douglas a daughter of Sir George
Douglas of Pittendreich. Inaddition, one ofthe earliest references to an Andrew in the
early 1500’s relates to an instrument of redemption of property on the south side of the
High Street by William Auchinleck, son and heir of Adam Auchinleck of Pennyland
in Kyle to Andrew his son which was dated 13/7/1510. In August 1511, this was then
redeemed by Andrew in favour of John Murray of Blackbarony. A deed of 1480
discloses that this land was owned by Gelis the Ross and included land that Adam
Auchinleck dwelt in. The reference to Adam, father of William helps to validate the
ancestral link with the Auchinlecks of that I1k.

Understanding of Andrew, father of George, and his significance is enhanced through
the reconstruction of his wife’s family unit. Sir Robert Douglas of Glenbervie, a
descendant through marriage of this Auchinleck/Glenbervie line who died in 1770,
was compiler of both the Baronage and the Peerage of Scotland. His description in
page 438 of the Peerage of Scotland refers to the marriage of Sir George Douglas of
Pittendreich to Elizabeth, daughter of and heir of David Douglas of Pittendreich: Sir
George, brother to the 6th Earl of Angus and a grandson of Archibald the 5th Earl was
a cousin to the children of William Douglas of Glenbervie. Even more significant was
the marriage of his brother, Archibald, the 6th Earl of Angus to Margaret, the young
widow of James I'V, sister of Henry VIII of England in 1514. Their daughter, later to
become Lady Lennox, was to become the mother of Lord Damley, the father of the
future James VI of Scotland. The complexity of this network would re-emerge later
when Morton was accused of the murder of Darnley.

The natural children of Sir George Douglas were listed by Fraser as follows;
David 7th Earl of Angus.
James, Earl of Morton

Margaret, married to Sir John Carmichael of Carmichael. Her mother was Fowler

Mary, married to Sir George Auchinleck of Balmanno.

Elizabeth, daughter of the Lady Dundas and reported by Nisbet to have married John
Hay, 4th Earl of Yester [Lord Yester?].

When the reference to Sir George Auchinleck is replaced with Andrew, other jigsaw
pieces come together.

» In 1532, an Andrew Auchinleck was described as an occupant of Smyddeland and
Serjanland at Colinton and Redhall and he was a temporary Sherift for the City of
Edinburgh. This land according to the Register of the Great Seal was owned by
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James Foulis and Katherine Broun. There is other evidence of a possible network
involving people with the name Auchinleck and Foulis in the early 1500°s.

* The writ relating to Andrew’s appointment as a Sheriff in March 1529 is in the
archives of Yester House. That begins to take on a new agenda if Andrew and the
Earl of Yester were brothers in law.

Very little 1s known of the early childhood of James Douglas, Earl of Morton, apart
from the view thathe was bornabout 1516. In 1526, his father, Sir George and his uncle
Archibald, the 6" Earl, were banished beyond the Spey and their lands forfeited. Hume
of Godscroft was the first biographer to suggest that Morton lived with his cousins at
Glenbervie and at his mother’s home at Pittendreich near Elgin. But there are
conflicting commentaries. Professor Fraser identified that Pittendreich was granted by
the King to John Stirling of Keir and James Stewart of Moray in 1528 and that they held
them until the reversal of the forfeiture of Sir George Douglas in 1542 when James V
died. He had noted that Elizabeth, wife of Sir George appealed against the loss of what
was her land in October 1528 and in 1535, she won her case to have the life rent ( with
a reference 1n the charter to her son James as heir to his mother), along with a promise
to ratify the grant when James V attained the age of twenty-four. But Fraser then adds
he did not do so, that he revoked the charter to Elizabeth Douglas and granted the land
to his brother, James Stewart, the Earl of Moray. A more recentresearcher, Dr Michael
Kelly, in an unpublished PhD, has suggested that the sisters of the Earl of Angus and
their husbands were left alone during the proscription period. The question is not just
about the early life of James as apart from his household, there were also two children
of the deceased William of Glenbervie (whose widow Elizabeth, entered the convent
at Sciennes in Edinburgh as one of its founders in 1519,) and five children of Andrew
Auchinleck. And an additional factor must be that they could be educated at Kinloss
Abbey where Robert Reid and Thomas Chrystall were building up a library and were
to be joined by a scholar of European standing, a Giovanni Ferrerio.

Unfortunately, the dates of birth of these children cannot be identified but there is still
a significant number to form a family group. It is against that background that Andrew
Auchinleck stands out as a possible anchor man for the absent father in the household
of the Douglases of Pittendreich before appearing in Edinburgh in 1529. Not only was
he anotary but his will indicates he also owned thirty eight cattle and other animals on
part of the Glenbervie estate. Dr Hewitt, in his research on Morton, suggests that it was
in the north that Morton learnt the skills of property and estate management he was to
use later in life. It 1s a convincing assessment especially when one of the earliest
references to George Auchinleck, eldest son of Andrew, is his appearance as Bailie for
the young Archibald Douglas of Glenbervie in 1533 in his court at Kemnay which
again suggests the continuity of the wider family in the north while the male Douglas
members were exiled.

By the 1540°s, the St Andrew’s connection was becoming a base for Auchinleck
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notaties acting as witnesses. Andrew was certainly there in 1558 acting as sasine
director in St Andrews and recording the acquisition ofJand between a John Auchinleck
and his wite Isobel Wood from the Priory of Pittenweem in that year. But I could not
find any other evidence of him having property in St Andrews. And then a possible
explanation emerged. In a 1923 account of old St Andrews, there is a reference to a
house at Dean’s Court “which belonged to Sir George Douglas and which is still
standing.” Using it as a family resource seems perfectly acceptable, after all, St
Andrews was not short of Auchinlecks at that time. (A sir John Auchinleck was a
Chaplain and notary at Holy Trinity churchin 1526 and 1537 before joining the group
who captured St Andrews castle and took revenge on Cardinal Beaton in 1546. He was
still there in 1554 when he applied for absolution for killing in defence of the castle
after the murder of Beaton. Surprisingly, his fainily links cannot be verified to date.)

Understanding the role of Andrew can therefore help to see the link his eldest son
George Auchinleck was to Morton and his management his estates and his later office
as Regent of Scotland. In his capacity as chamberlain to Morton, we can also
understand why he himself had no land but that changed in March 1572 when he was
given the grant of the lands of Balmanno by the following members of the Douglas
family listed in the recorded deed;

James, Earl of Morton,
Archibald, Earl of Angus,

Alexander, Ear] of Glencaim
William of Ruthven, curator of Archibald, son of the deceased seventh earl.

[t was not my aim in my talk to develop the fuller evolving picture of this relationship
between' the Douglases of Angus and the Auchinleck family network. Professor
Gordon Donaldson has already identified the social status of this era which

“might be a bond joining noble with noble or noble with prelate.” Just concentrating
on the early 16" century alone offers rich material for fuller study, including the role
of the women holding the family network together while the male Douglases were
exiled en bloc. Indeed the Douglas women of the time can provide superb material that
the late Nigel Tranter would have enjoyed using such as the widowed Elizabeth
entering the convent after Flodden, the wife of Sir George Douglas of Pittendreich
having to cope with her husband ‘s absences and affairs, the burning at the stake of Lady
Glamis, a Douglas, at the stake in Edinburgh while Andrew Auchenleck held an office
as temporary sheriff, and the mother of Huine of Godscroft, also a Douglas, Alison,
daughter of Bell-the-Cat, asking her son to write a history that did credit to the family.
(Unfortunately, very liftle 1s known of the wife of George Auchinleck. She is first
referred to in 1572 as an Elizabeth Auchinleck when she and George were granted the
lands of Balmanno at Abernethy by the Earl of Morton and three Douglases. If her
family of origin was Auchinleck, one possible link would be with the Auchinlecks of
Woodhilland thatcould explain the involvement with John Auchinleck, the chamberlain
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of the Priory of Pittenweem and Andrew, the father of George. The branches were to
intermarry one hundred years later.

The search for validation.

If the past evidence from primary sources had been easily available, historians and
genealogists might have picked up this family network earlier. The question of using
coats of arms of the Auchinlecks at this time to assist my research had been triggered
by the talk given by Elizabeth Roads, Lyon Clerk and Keeper of Records to the society
in March 2002. T had already identified the use of at least two coats of arms, one having
a cross embattled and the other having three bars sable. I wondered if these would help
to identify the interface between two main sources of this family name, the baronial
line associated with Auchinleck in Ayrshire and the other source associated with
Affleck Castle in Angus and I wrote to the Lyon Court for their opinion. It was also
interesting thatinadeed 17/10/1537, when Andrew Auchinleck acts as Sheriff Depute
of Edinburgh, there is a note by the archivist that the seal of three bars was that of Sir
Andrew Wood of Largo, “probably as one of the assize had no seal of his own.”

In her reply, the Lyon Clerk quoted commentary by Nisbet. Volume I of the 1984
reprint of this work on heraldry first published in 1722, linked the Arms of Argent three
bars Sable with the Angus branch and the cross counter embattled Sable with the
Auchinlecks of Balmanno. The source for the Balmanno reference was given as Sir
George Mackenzie in hismanuscript Science of Heraldry. But Nisbet also commentated
on the aspect of the separate baronial line said to have been based in Auchinleck in
Ayrshire and specifically referred to the acquisition of the lands of Auchinleck by
Thomas Boswell of Balmuto in Fife, partly through marriage with a female heiress of
Auchinleck of that ilk. Dane Love, the more recent author of the history of the town
of Auchinleck, states that for their coat of arms, the Auchiniecks of Ayrshire were
granted Argent, three bars sable “which still appears in the arms of the Boswell
successors.” Jervise and Warden were earlier local history researchers who appear to
have based their comments of Nisbet’s authority but I now have no hesitation in
challenging these earlier sources.

The Lyon Clerk made two other comments in her advice, firstly that the only early
recordings in the public domain relating to Auchinleck showed bars and that many
people during the 15th and 16th century changed their Arms throughout their lives. She
may have been right on the second but a chance visit to Crathes Castle in October 2002
led to my discovery of the Arms of Auchinleck quartered in the arms of Douglas of
Glenbervie. On the painted ceiling of the roof of the Baronial Court were the cross
embattied arms of the Auchinleck heiress of Glenbervie incorporated in the arms of
her subsequent husband, William Douglas of Glenbervie. The Auchinlecks of
(Glenbervie were the last of the Auchinlecks tohold the barony and lands of Auchinleck
in Ayrshire at the turn of the 15th/16th Century. The jigsaw pieces of the genealogy
of the Auchinleck of Ayrshire and Glenbervie and the findings from my local and
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national history research were beginning to fit.

The Foulis /Auchinleck netsork in the 15" and 16" Centuries

This is amuch more difficult network to validate but there are indicators of a closeness
that deserves more attention. In 1422, a William Fouilis was Secretary to the Ear] of
Douglas in 1422 and was also Archdeacon of St Andrews. Récent research by Michael
Brown suggests that some officials like William Foulis were encouraged to enter the
service of James Ist. and he became keeper of the privy seal while his service to the
Black Douglas family continued. This was also a time when a branch of the
Auchinlecks of Auchinleck were also notaries and priests connected to the Black
Douglas line and with links to the University of St Andrews. Recent detailed research
by John Finlay has shown how complex the Foulis family of lawyers had become 1n
the early 1500°s One man stands out and that is James Foulis who returned from
Orleans in France in 1513 to become one of the leading ddvocates of the 1520°s. He
was appointed Lord Clerk Register in 1532 and Kings Advocate in 1538. He appears
to be the founder of the Foulis family of Colinton as a Sir James Foulis purchased
Collontown from Lord Kilmaurs, son of the Earl of Glencairn in 1519.

Finlay identifies his father as 2 Henry Foulis while Margaret Sanderson in her book
Cardinal of Scotland believed he was a son on a James Foulis, an Edinburgh skinner.
Finlay’s account is perhaps more accuraté- and identifies the close network of
Edinburgh lawyers before 1532, many who had their education at Orleans. A further
complication is the existence of a John Foular. Finlay locates a James Fouler as another
notary with a mid 16™ Century protocol book as being linked to the Foulisis of
Linlithgow and also identifies many of this early network as having West Lothian
origins. Marguerita Wood, in her introduction to his Protocol Book of 1500 to 1503
refers to his docquet which shows he was a clerk to the diocese of St Andrews and
advises he was a notary for thirty three years. The Auchinleck notaries and clergy
appear to have moved north to the Inverness area from the late 1400°s with the
exception of at least one man undertaking work for the Douglas tamily at Strathaven.

The problem is that Sir William Cuninghame of Redhall and son of the Third Earl of
Glencaim, Lord Kilmaurs, sold the land of Redhall about this time although there 1s
a definite Douglas link as the third Earl married Marion Douglas, a daughter of Bell
the Cat. But in 1526, the kinship link with the Douglas family was strained as the Third
Earl had supported Lennox at Linlithgow against Angus the sixth Earl. So it1s the legal
link that is probably the main reason for the appearance of Andrew Auchinleck on the
adjacent Foulis land. One authority, Stodart, suggests that both Auchinleck and Foulis
shared the same arms of three bars sable just to add to the confusion of the use of the
seal of Andrew Wood and this also being the arms of Fouls!

But there is also another Foulis link of interest. In 1496, there 1s a reference to Henry
Foulis, Goldsmith. In 1501, a Matthew Auchlek was involved in undertaking silver
work at Stirling,. By 1504, a goldsmith Matthew Auchinleck was in charge of the mint
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at the Canongate. His brother, Alexander took over in 1507 until 1527.Also in 1502,
aJohn Auchleck was paid for gilding the Queens bridles and harness for her state entry
to Edinburgh for her wedding in August 1502. In the University of St Andrews, there
is a silver Mazer which is believed to have been made by an Alexander Auchinleck and
by a Thos Ewing deacon, probably in 1561-62. It has been described as the oldest fully
hallmarked piece of Edinburgh silver but its provenance is not certain.

The wider Auchinleck netywork.

While this review raises the profile of the Auchinlecks and their contribution to the
history of that period, it also raised the question of why some earlier historians,
including descendents of Auchinleck of Balmanno like Sir Robert Douglas of
Glenbervie, omitted so much or got it wrong. One problem in the research is that some
of these early Auchinleck families did not hold on to their estates and therefore there
1s no signiticant charter trail. Earlier writers such as Jervise probably did not have the
access Sir William Fraser had to the Douglas charter chest. But this research project
points up how revisiting previous accounts can benefit from a fresh start and an
analysis that looks at the link of family networks and Scottish history and takes
advantage of more recent research work on aspects of Scottish history ¢overing the 1 5%
and 16™ centuries. And it is almost certain that Vatican archives for the early 1500°s
will bave even more material to offer in relation the network of Auchinleck priests in
the Inverness area in the early 1500°s and the apparent move north from Ayrsbire and
Glasgow Cathedral. They should also explain why Alexander Auchinleck, parson of
Glenbervie and a prominent member; of the Church of the time, was in Rome in 1526
when he died and 1f this was related to the events in Scotland in that year.

S0 far as the Auchinleck family history was concerned, those with an interest in
Affleck history have been diverted to other places and stories. While there is a
signiticant link with the story of Affleck Castle at Monikie, there is also the early link
with Auchinleck in Ayrshire, with Glenbervie in the Meams and with three other
fortified towers, Balmanno in Perthshire, Cuinledge near Duns and Affleck Castle near
Inverurie, all operational in the second part of the 1500°s and all acquired through
. marriage or kinship. And while this article haslooked at the significance of the Douglas
family link with 1ts own extensive geographical network at the time, there is evidence
of another close link with the important family of Hepburn, which is still being
assessed. That will probably feature land ownership through marriage and pre-
reformation church involvement in counties Forfar, Aberdeen, Perth and Haddington.
Interestingly, the link with the Lindsay family stressed by Jervise, has not been
mentioned in this review, nor did it feature in the historical research of the significant
gravestone 1n the Howif at Dundee that brings two and perhaps three branches of
Auchinlecks together. The Auchinleck network was to become even more prominent
(but perhaps more localised) in the later 16" and early 17" century in aspects of Scottish
history but it has become clear that in order to understand that era, the earlier history
and genealogy had to be revisited and the link with the Douglas kinsmen analysed.
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Diagram to illustrate the links befween the family of
Sir John Auchinleck of Auchinleck and Archibald, Sth Earl of Angus

Sir James Auchinlek
(Married Christine, Widow of Sir William Douglas before 1443)

|__ o T |
Sir John Auchinlek of Auchinlek m. Elizabeth Melville  James Auchinleck m. Giles Melville
i o | 1
James John Marton
Married Egidia Vicar of Glenbervie Archibald 5th Earl of Angus
Ross, 1480 [ Died 1514
died before 1492  James m. Janet Hepburn
1528
[
Elizabeth William of Schethin Sir William Douglas
m. 1501 Died at Flodden, 1513
Sir Archibald Douglas

of Glenbervie
Lived o 1570

The Barony of Auchinleck and the Boswells.

The first grant of the lands of Auchinleck was made by James V to Thomas Boswell,
a close friend, in 1503. He had married an Annabel Campbell, daughter of Sir Hugh
Campbell of Louden. One source has suggested a second marrage of Marion
Auchinleck, daughter of Sir John Auchinleck was to a Campbell of Louden and it was
this link thatled to the Boswell’s acquiring the Auchinleck estate and Barony. In 1627,
William the eleventh Earl of Angus attempted to reclaim the Auchinleck estate and
there is a letter from a Sir George Auchinleck expressing his support and views on the
action within the Douglas archives. An extract is printed in Fraser’s book on the
Douglas family.

Anchinleck of Pennyland, ancestors of the Balmanno line.

Willlam Auchinleck

Rector of Glenbervie Sir John
1444
Adlam
Auchinleck Vincent?
of Pennyland
I —_— ] i : L
William ‘ Alexander? James Sir John?
of Pennyland Priest at Died Chaplain at .
Glenbervie 1497/8 Inverness in
| Died in Rome Chantour 1509
Andrew 1525 at Dornoch
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FHowever there are other peerages that may not be so familiar that may be of use to the
family historian:

A short view of Families of the Scottish Nobility, Mr Salmon, London, 1759.
Baronage of Scotland. Sir Robert Douglas, Edinburgh, 1798.

Burke's Extinct Peerage. John Burke, 1840, 1846, 1866 & 1883.

Burke's Extinct Baronetcies. 1838 & 1841. ,

Complete Peerage, 13 vols. George Edward Cokayne, London, 1910 - 1940.

Complete Baronetage, 1611-1800, 6 vols. George Edward Cokayne, Exeter, 1900-
1909.

Court Guide & Royal Blue Book, Scotland. London, 1905; st edition.
Scots Compendium or Pocket Peerage of Scotland, Edinburgh, 1826
Jacobite Peerage. Marquis of Ruvigny & Raineval, Edinburgh, 1904.

Lodge’s Peerage, Baronetage, Knightage & Companionage of the Brltlsh Empire,
¢c.1830-1912+, Saunders and Otley, London.

Peerage of Scotland. James Carmichael, Edinburgh 1791.
Peerage of Scotland. George Crawford, Edinburgh, 1716.
Peerage of Scotland. Sir Robert Douglas, Edinburgh, 1764.

Peerage-of Scotland. Sir Robert Douglas. 2nd ed. John Philip Wood, 2 vols,
,_,dmburgh 1813.

Peerage of Scotland, including dormant, aftainted and extinct titles. Broun,
Edinburgh 1834.

Peerage, Baronetage, and Knightage of the British Empire, Joseph Foster,
London, 1879-188%3.

Walford’s County Families of the United Kingdom, originally The County Families
of the United Kingdom, Edward Walford, London, 1860-1920

Notebooks - I have all my research notebooks going back many years. I regularly go
back to my original jottings and sometime find gems that I thought were interesting
enough to jot down but did not find useful at the time. I very quickly discovered that
one had to be meticulous in recording sources, repertory numbers, dates, books titles,
authors, publication date, page number, film number etc. as it was all too easy to rush
onand thenregretit later. Mostmaterial I type up. I write general categories of research
contained in a notebook on the cover and to make it easier to locate odd items that I
havenotfyped up 1 turnthe comer ofthe page over. L always putaline through anything
that has been typed up. Using this system enables me to quickly refer back to research
notes. If a consistent approach is used to note taking then it makes life easier for those
who come later, but perhaps the miniaturisation of the computer, digital cameras and
voice recognition, will put an end to the need for notebooks.
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THE NAME MACMILLAN

by Graeme M. Mackenzie

MacMillan is one of the oldest surviving clan names in Scotland. A form of the
patronymic from which it springs (i.e. mac molini) occurs in the mid-12" century
marginal notes in the Book of Deer — the earliest known example of written Scots
Gaelic — and the surname itself appears twice in the 13" century: in Badenoch in the
1220s (as Macmallon) and amongst an inquest jury at Dumbarton in 1263 (as
MacMolan). There are two entries — or two spellings of the same entry — relating to
lands in the Glenkens in the early 14" century (McMalene and Makmolene), and
another in Galloway later in the same century (McMolyn). From the 15% century
onwards the name is relatively common, being recorded most frequently in Galloway
and around the Moray Firth - though this merely reflects the fact that at this time
surnames and written records were more commonly used 1n these areas than 1n those
parts of the Gaidhealtachd where the bulk of the MacMillans are supposed to have
lived (i.e. Lochaber, Knapdale, and Kintyre).'

Most of the 15 century records, like those in earlier centuries, have versions of the
Gaelic MacMhaolain; e.g. McMullane (¢c.1431), Macmolane (1452), McMelane
(1484), Makmulane & McMwlane (1486), Makmyllane (1488), McMilane (1490). The
record in 1492 however of Huchone Makgillemuil in Nairnshire 1s the first appearance
of the alternate form, MacGhillemhaoil, and most, but by no means all of the
subsequent 15" and early 16" century records of clan members around the Moray Firth
are of versions of that form of the surname; e.g. McGillemule (1498), McGillemoylf
& McGilnnvell (c.1502), McGillemoill (1514). Ts appears to support the tradition
that while MacMhaolain was used in the south (Knapdale, Kintyre, and Galloway),
MacGhillemhaoil was favoured in the north; though the main line of the later Lochaber
Macmillans, who can be traced back on Loch Arkaigside to Duncane Beane McFinlay
in 1547, appear with patronymics only —until 1684 when their chieftain is documented
as John McGilliveille in Muirlaggan. The fact that the Macmillans of Murlagan used
this phonetic form of MacGhillemhaoil, which stems from the pronounciation of the
Gaelic “mh” like the English “v”’, was noted in 1 723 by William Buchanan of Auchmar
who records it as M Gilveil *

Auchmar’s chapter on the MacMillans in his “Historical and Genealogical Essay upon
the Family and Surname of Buchanan” is the first modern account of the clan; and in
relation to the name he tells us that the MacMillans themselves had “... a fond opinion
obtained for some time, of their obtaining that denomination from their ancestor’s
being bald, in Irish Maoilain, and thence MacMailans, or bald-man’s sons...”.
Modern dictionaries of Scots Gaelic confirm that a bald man would be Maoilean or
Maoiline, and given that the name first appears as “Mac-Molini” a derivation from
Mac-Maoiline appears to make sense. Auchmar however reports this origin only to
decry it, asserting instead that the name comes from one “Methlan ... Brother to the

28 The Scottish Genealogist




Firstwho assumed the Surnante of Buchanan...” and claiming that “...it is clear that
MacMethian can be no otherwise pronounced in Irish than as MacMillans pronounce
their name...”. His somewhat dismissive reference to the “Irish” language suggests
that Auchmar would not have been aware that the name by which he knew the
Lochaber branch of the clan was a version of the Gaelic MacGhillenfiaoil —which is
maybe just as well, since he’d have had a hard time trying to derive it from the name
Methlan. It does however leave the process of them “...changing their surnames a
little from M"Millan into that of M Gilveil... ” unexplained, and one can only assume
that he relied on the ignorance and contempt of his fellow lowlanders for the
“barbarous Erse” to allow him to get away with it.’

Given the obvious incompatibility of these two names as defined by Auchmar, it’s
significant that the Buchanan historian never asserts, as some later non-MacMillan
historians were to do, that the MacGhillemhaoils and MacMhaolains were separate
clans. Indeed he takes care to relate their own account of how a son of the “Great
Macmillan of Knap” iled to Lochaber and became the ancestor of the “A’Gilveils of
Murlagan, of Caillie [i.e. Callich] and Glenpean” — who he says, “...are close
Dependants upon the Laird if Locheal, and upon all Expeditions make up a Company
of an Hundred Men, with Officers, all of that Sept...". Despite being regarded in the
18" century throughout the highlands as a sept of the Camerons, Clann ‘ic ‘illemhaoil
Abrach remained sufficiently connected to the rest of the MacMillans that in 1746 the
officers of their company of Lochiel’s regiment followed the example set in 1728 by
Duncan MacMillan of Dunmore (head of the wealthiest family of the Knapdale clan)
and joined the Buchanan Society in Glasgow. The close connections at this time
between the Dunmore family and the Buchanans may help explain why the MacMillans
appear tohave accepted Auchmar’s claims about their clan’s ancestry —so much so that
Dunmore matriculated arms in 1742 based on those of Buchanan. That being the case,
it’s easy to see why the other leading MacMillans in Knapdale and Kintyre (the lairds
of Baillie and Cour) also signed up for Auchmar’s pioneering clan society; but the only
explanation for the Lochaber McGilvailes (as their name is spelt on the membership
register) doing likewise has to be a firm conviction on their part that the two MacMillan
kindreds did indeed belong to the same clan — or as Auchmar would have it, sept! It’s
difficult to know what’s more amazing: the willingness of both MacMillan chiefs in
the Gaidhealtachd (and indeed some of the leading MacMillan gentry in Galloway too)
who chose to 1gnore the traditions of their own clan as to the meaning of their name,
or the audacity of Auchmar’s sept-napping efforts — since he cites as a reference for
Methlan Buchanan a document that certainly seems to exist, but in which no such
person appears!*

One of the leading proponents of the idea that the MacMillans of Knap and those of
Lochaber were independent clans was Alexander Macbain, the greatestauthority in the
early 20" century on the origin of clans and their names. In his “Etymological
Dictionary of the Gaelic Language™ in 1911, Macbain has Mac-Millan deriving from
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both M ’Mhaolain and M’ Ghille-mhaoil, but translates only the second of these - as
“Son of the Bald Gille”. This accords with the judgement he’d previously given in the
editorial “Excursus and Notes” to his 1902 edition of Skene’s “Highlanders of
Scotland”; though on that occasion he also says that “Mac-Gille-mhaoil ... probably
stands for Gille-na-maol, which means ‘Gille of the Saints’...”, and that “...shortened
in the usual way, it appears as Maolan . This second suggestion appears somewhat
problematical since the translation of miao/ as saint[s] is, so far as I’m aware, unknown;
though it often appears within a name as “servant” or “devotee” of a saint (e.g. Maol-
Coluim for Servant of St. Columba). By way of explanation Macbain points to the
appearance in Ireland of Gille-na-naomi — also “Gille of the Saints” — and seems to
suggest that M Gilnef (i.e. MacGhille-naoimh) should be taken as coming from it. In
his Etymological Dictionary however, in explaining Mac-Niven, there is no mention
of M’Ghille-na-naoimh, just a straight derivation from MacGhille-naoimh. More
importantly so far as M’Ghillemhaoil is concerned, there is no record in Scotland of
any version of Gille-na-maol or MacGhille-na-mhaoil; though there was once a form
Muac-na-maoife. Macbain himself alludes to this last version, in another article on
Gaelic names in the Celtic Review of 1906, but he does so without any suggestion that
it was an abreviated form of MacGhille-na-mhaoil — explaining 1t as simply a “side
form” of MacMillan meaning Son of Baldness.”

In his 1906 paper Macbain says that Maolan, the stem of M’Millan, and Naomhan
(from which M’Niven) are “diminuitive” or “pet” forms of Gille-maol and Gille-
naonth. Unfortunately while pointing to various other examples of given names where
ain at the end replaces gille at the beginning - such as Gille-Brighde and Bridean (from
which M’Bride) or Gille-glas and Glaisean (from which M’Glashan) — Macbain
makes no attempt to explain this substitution in terms of meaning. Indeed he almost
seems to suggest, as in fact he appears to say explicitly in the 1902 passage quoted
above, that in this context “diminutive” should be taken simply as an abbreviated form
of the name. This contradicis the perhaps more common belief that a ““diminutive” or
“pet” form of a name refers to the person in question as “httle”; with the implication,
at least as far as saints’ names are concemed, of it really meaning “dear little” or
“beloved” (as suggested by Andrew McKerral in Appendix 1 of his “Kintyre 1n the
Seventeenth Century”, and discussed in my arficle on Clann Challuim in Lom in The
Scottish Genealogist, Vol. LI, No. 3). Thus Macbain would seem to be saying that
M’Mhaolain is simply an abbreviated form of MacGhille-Mhaoil, and that both
therefore mean “Son of the Bald Gille”.5

Since maol can mean shaven-headed as well as bald, many MacMillan historians have
read it in the context of their name as “tonsured”; and with a gille in medieval times
being more a servant than the “lad” of modern usage, MacGhillenmhaoil has emerged
as “Son of the Tonsured Servant” — the service being by implication to God or the
church. The fact that the first two modern historians of the clan were churchmen may
of course have influenced this interpretation.
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The Rev. Dr. Hugh Macmillan, who was elected “chief” of The Clan MacMillan
Society at 1ts inauguration in 1893, reports that .. .the name is supposed to be derived
from the Celtic tonsure, known as St. John’s...”. This in tum has led some to interpret
the name as Mac-Mhaol-Iain —“Son of the Tonsure of John” —and though this might
seem to be supported by the occasional appearance of phonetic forms such as
MacMillian, as a patronymic surname it seems nonsensical. As an alternative form of
Mac-Ghille-Iain, “Son of the Servant or Devotee of (St.) John”, it would make sense,
butsince that’s the original Gaelic form of the summame MacLean —with fain then more
usually rendered in the form Eoin — it’s hardly likely to apply to MacMillans.?

The Rev. Somerled MacMillan, the author in 1952 of the first comprehensive history
of the clan, interpreted MacMhaolain as “Son of the Little Tonsured One” — agreeing
with Macbain 1n taking maofan to be a diminutive of maol, but following McKerral in
making the diminution refer to the meaning of the name rather than just its length. He
also refers to An Gille-Muaolan, which he translates as “the little tonsured servant™ but
which, 1f 1t existed, might perhaps be “the servant of the little tonsured one”. Though
this is a transitional form such as that implied by Macbain in the process of diminishing
Gille-Maolto Maolan, it’s one for which there appears to be no historical justification.
The clan’s eponymous appears in the genealogies either as Gillemaol or as Maolan (see
below) and there are no known examples, amongst over 200 recorded versions of the
two forms ofthe clan’s surname, of anything that might stand for MacGhillemhaolain 8

Whether or not Macbain and Somerled MacMillan are right about the derivation of
MacMhaolain, there are other surnames which clearly do derive from a diminutive
form of Gille-Maol, or indeed of Maolan: i.e. Mulligan and Milliken. Their evolution
from Maolagan (“little bald or tonsured one™), and their connection with the MacMillans,
is evident in Perthshire, where at least one McMhaoiligan, and a mumber of Mulikyns,
are recorded living amongst MacMillans on Loch Tayside. In Galloway, the Brithonic
form of the patronymic ~ i.e. Ap Maolagain — originates a surname whose early
versions such as Amilligane, Ameligane, Amulykin etc. give way in due course to
Mullakane, Mwlikyn, Milliganne, Mulligan, Milliken, efc.; and their leading family,
the Amuliganes/Millikins of Blackmyre, occupied lands that marched with, and some
that were indeed later owned by, the local MacMillan chieftains. A similar form of
diminutive can be found amongst the MacLellans, who are another kindred connected
at one fime with the MacMillans. In their case, while Gille-Fliaolain — “Devotee of
(St.) Fillan” — is the origin of Mac’il’aolain or MacLellan, the alternate form Gille-
Fhaolagain (“hitle servant/devotee of Fillan” or “servant/devotee of little Fillan™)
. gives the surnames MacGilligan, MacKillican etc.’

InIreland there are a number of clans in different parts of the country bearing surnames
such as O’Millan and O’Mullan, and while it’s acknowledged that some of these
probably are versions of O ‘Maolain from maol for “bald”, it’s asserted that others may
be versions of O 'Maelain from Maelan meaning “warrior”. Further possible origins
are O’Meallain from Mell/Mella meaning “lightning”, or Meall meaning pleasant; and
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O’Maol-Eoin from “Servant of (Saint) John — though this 1s generally assumed to be
the origin in Ireland of the name Malone rather than of (O) Millan or (O”) Mullan.™

Alexander Macbain also points out in his 1906 article in the Celtic Review that in some:-
Gaelic names an element appearing to derive from maol may actually have come from
mal meaning “prince”; e.g. Muldoon from Mail-duin. The last of these possible
alternative meanings may seem initially attractive for MacGhillemhaoil since Gille-
Mdail —“Servant of the Prince’” — saves having to struggle with the potential tautology
of Gille-Maol (Gille and Maol being synonymous in a number of Gaelic names, such
as the given name Gille/Maol-Domhnuich and the surname Mac-Maol/Gille—onfhaidh,
i.e. MacGillonie); but there’s no trace of tradition within the clan in favour of such an
origin to set against Auchmar’s clear report of the MacMillans® own opinion about
their name’s meaning. The symbolic importance of the sword within the MacMillan
kindred might point, on the other hand, to the possibility of the name deriving from
Maelan (“warrior”) having to be taken seriously. Against this howeveris the evidence
that “Maolan” and many of his immediate descendants, along with other members of
the wider kindred to which they belonged — MacKinnons, MacPhees, etc. — shared
strong religious connections in the middle ages, which would tend to support the
traditional explanation of the clan’s name(s). !

Given the strength of these traditions, and the circumstantial evidence about the early
members of the kindred supporting therm, the search for an alternative meaning of one
or other of the original Gaelic names would only seem appropriate if one believes,
along with Macbain, that Clann ic ‘illemhaoil Abrach and MacMhaolain Mora Chnap
belonged to completely separate kindreds (with the many MacMillans in Galloway,
who are usually left out of such reckonings, presumably connected to the latter). If that
was so, however, it would leave the Englishing of MacGhillemhaoil as MacMillan
looking not merely odd — and there are plenty of distinctly odd English versions of
Gaelic surnames (such as Graham for MacGhillemhearnaig and Livingstone for
MacDlunnshleibhe) — but rather stupid. Why choose as the English appellation for a
separate clan a surname that, wherever it came from, had been used by an existing
kindred since atleast the 13%* century? Furthermore, when Englished surnamesbecame
required in the highlands, why would a tribe of staunch Jacobite followers of Lochiel
in wild Lochaber want to take the name of a by then none too great Whig laird firmly
attached to the cause of the Campbells if they did not actually belong to the same
kindred? The fact that they did share a common origin is supported not only by
Auchmar’s faithful reporting of the clan’s own traditions —despite their contradicting
his theories and leaving him unable to explain how M’Gilveil came from M’Methlan
—but, most significantly ofall, by clear evidence from the earliest surviving genealogies
of the clan.

MS1467, which is now thought to have been compiled at the beginning of the 15
century, includes the oldest account of the MacMillans. It takes the chiefs of the clan
back from about that date through five generations to “... Gillacoluim mhic Gillacrist
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dar comhainn an Gillamaol agus Clann an Mail mhic Cormaic mhic Airbeartaigh...”;
which can be translated as “...Malcolm, son of Gilchrist who was called Gillemaol
from whom the MacMillans, son of Cormac son of Airbertach... ”. Since Cormac mac
Airbertach 1s shown in MS1467 to be the ancestor of no less than ten highland clans
he must have been a very significant figure i his time (although most modern
authorities doubt that more than four or five of the pedigrees of clans shown to be his
descendants are likely to be reliable — the MacMillans being one of them). Gilchrist the
shaven-headed son of Cormac appears on therecord in 1132 as Gilchrist mac Cormaic
in an entry in the Book of Deer that suggests who his father was, since the principle
in the deed he’s witnessing is Cormac bishop of Dunkeld; and, as previously noted, it’s
in a later entry in the same source that his son appears as Malcoln mac Maoiline.'?

These same individuals appear in the second oldest genealogy of the clan, the mid-16®
century family tree of the Lenys, as “Colmin mac Maolan mac Gilespic Moir” and as
“Colmin mac Gilibile mac Gilespic”. Colmin is another form of Gille/Maol-Colutinz
or Malcolm, and Gilespic is Gille-easbuig meaning here “Bishop” (Gille-easbuig Mor
—“Great Bishop” —presumably because Cormac’sdiocese of Dunkeld then encompassed
all of Argyll from Kintyre in the south to Glenelg in the north). This double appearance
of the clan’s eponymous, with in each case the same father and son, 1s particularly
significant. A branch on the Leny tree from “Maolan” leads to the “Macmillans in
Airgile & Braedalbin” (Breadalbane, where, according to Auchmar, the chiefs of the
clan resided before settling in Knapdale); while “Gilibile” 1s shown as the progenitor
of the “Macgilbiles in Lochaber”. Gilibile is another phonetic form of Gillemhaoil,
based on the fact that in Gaelic the letter “b” aspirates in the same way as the “m” —
to sound like the English “v”—and this isthe root of the Englishing of (MacGhille)mhaoil
through (M’il}veil to Bile/Bell, a process previously discussed in these pages in my
article on the name MacGill.P

The third oldest genealogy of the MacMillans relates specifically to the Lochaber
branch which were at one time part of the original Clan Chattan confederation, and it
also shows “Gilmiell” to be the son of “Gillespick™. It then goes on to relate that when
Mackintosh, who’d become the Captain of Clan Chattan by marriage “.../left offfo have
fiis habitation & residence in Lochaber, and preferred the corn country as the more
civill place, the clan vick Gillmiol (having their possessions in Lochaber) in process
of time took the protection of the chief of Clan Chameron... ”. Though the Ardross MS,
from which this comes, was written in 1687, it appears to have been taken from an
original which was probably composed at least a century before. As such it confirms
what the Leny tree indicates — that the Macmillans in Lochaber were already known
as Clann Mhic Ghillemhaoil by the 16™ cenfury; though, as we’ve already seen, none
of the known leading members of this branch of the clan appear in contemporary
records with any form of the clan surname until 1684. In some 17" and early 18®
century records the Macmullans of Murlagan actually appear with the surname
Cameron —along with the chieftains of other clans subordinate to Lochiel (such as the
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MacGillonies, the MacMartins, the MacSorlies of Glen Nevis, and the local MacPhees).

It’s not until after Cullmden that they appear regularly with the surnames
MacGhiliemhaoil or Macmillan; and both forms are to be found amongst clan
members on Loch Arkaigside claiming compensation for their losses at the hands of
Cumberland’s troops in 1746 — a number of individuals in fact appearing as M 'Ilveil
M Millan, with in some cases an “alias” between the two surnames."

According to another tradition related by Auchmar, after the flight from Knapdale to
Lochaber-of ‘the founders of the M’Gilveils, some of their descendants returned to
Argyll to settle at the head of Loch Fyne; and contemporary records do show many
Macllvoils/Mcllyoyles living in Glens Aray and Shira in the 17* and early 18"
centuries. The Inverary OPR then records the most ruthless transformation of them all
into Bells - presumably at the behest of the Minister or Session Clerk —so that within
two decades in the mid-18" century not one MacGhlllemhaml remained. Some
MacMhaolains however continued to appear; and they are reported, by no less an
authority than the Duke of Argyll himself, to have always been associated in origin

with Knapdale and Kintyre; while the Mac’illemhaoils were known to have come from
Lochaber."? |

Such a clear cut distinction relating to the use of the two forms of the surname 1s not
however entirely supported by the records of the clan elsewhere in Scotland. Aswe’ve
already seen, all the earliest records of'the clan surname are of the form MacMhaolain
— including the one in Badenoch, whose bearer 1s assumed to have been an ancestor
of the original Lochaber branch of the clan, which was wiped out by the Mackintoshes
at the “Battle of the Clans” in 1396 and the “Palm Sunday Massacre” in 1430. If’s not
until a mention of the death in 1411 of Lochluinn MacGillemhaoil at the battle of
Harlaw that we find any mention of the other form of the name — but since it occurs
in a literary account written in the 17" century it can hardly count as a contemporary
record. Mostclansmen appearing in the 1400s continue to bear versions of MacMillan,
and the name is spelt MacMulen on the famous late 15" century crosses in Knapdale.
The first contemporary record of the other form comes, as previously reported, at the
end of the 15" century; and though it seems to be largely confined in the 16™ century
to the Moray Firth area, a Duncan McEwan Mcgillemoill is recorded on Loch Tayside
in 1549, and a Robert Meclhwail appears in Ayrshire or Galloway in 1554.
MacGhillemhaoil is not the only form used in the north however, since versions of
Millanson (e.g. Mulensone, Melansone and Millansoun) occur from fime to time,
alongside a single McMilane. All the other records so far found in the 16™ century,
which mostly relate to Knapdale, Kintyre and Galloway, are of forms of MacMillan
—thoughas previously noted the Leny family tree has Macgilbile (for MacGhillemhaoil)
as well as Macmillan.'®

The third Gaelic form of the name, Mac-rm{rﬁ&aﬂe, is said to have been associated
particularly with the Loch Tayside branch of the clan, but there are few surviving
records of it. Black found the one instance 1n 1707 with the spelling McNomoille.
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Another phonetic version —MacNamell — apparently existed at one time on the isle of
Jura where 1ts bearers became-a sept of the MacDougalls. Clann Somerhairle
acknowledged however that the MacNamells belonged in origin t to a separate kindred,

and traditions on the nearby mainland provide an explanatmn — with MacMillans
expelled by MacAllisters from part of Knapdale béing marooned on rocks in the Sﬂund
of Jura before being rescued and taken in by the MacDougalls. If Mac-na-maoile was
once used by the Knapdale ¢lan it would support the contention that the name
MacMhaolain was, like MacGhillemhaoil, associated with baldness or a shaven head

Furthermiore, gIven that the MacMillans belonged to a kindred descended fmm 2
bishop, which included the hereditary abbots of Iona (MacKmnﬂns) and priors of
Oransay (MacPhees), the chances are that Gllchrxst mac Cormaic’s shaven head was
indeed a tongure — though why'it, in a family full of pnests shnuld have been so
particularly IIlEIIlﬂI'ﬂb].E is still a mystery.!” - |

These days we are told that the kindred name for the Maolanach (‘Machllans“) 18
Clann nic Mhaolain or simply Clann Mhaolain, but it seems originally to have been
Clann an Mhaoil, Clann na Mhaoil or Clann ‘ic Mhaoil. The first form ‘appears as

“Clann an Mail” in MS1467, while the other two seem to be the basis of the mangled
names that appear in the 15™ cenfury Scots and Latin accounts of the 1396 “Battle of
the Clans” (i.e. “Clachynnhe Qwhewyl” and “Clanqwele’”). However, another form
of the kindred name was once common, to judge by the frequency with which it appears
it the histories of localities or other clans — where it is often not recognised (and not
always 1innocently one suspects) for what it was. When Lochiel’s daughters travelled
to the Black Isle and Strathspey to marry Mackenzie and Grant lairds, they went with
companions or bodyguards known as Clann Ghille Mhaoil Dubh, who are described
as bonnet-less or steel-helmeted “Camerons™; and, as I recounted in my article on the
MacGills and Bells, in Lorn the Gillean Maola Dubha at Craignish were explained as
“...Gillean Dubha (utter, or out-and-out servants) from the servile work they were
called upon to perform, and Maola not because they were bald, as the term might be
translated, but from their habit of going always about bare-headed”. This deliberate
down-grading of the MacMillans is probably a reflection of the fact that their kindred
had once been the masters both in Lochiel’s lands in Lochaber and Campbell’s
possesstons 1n Craignish. The former is a tale already told elsewhere, and the latter is
a story for another time.'

NOTES:

' Kenneth Jackson, Gaelic Notes in the Book of Deer (Cambridge, 1972), 35 & 70-1; Moray
Reg., Bannatyne Ciub No. 58 (Edinburgh, 1837), 84; APS, 1, 92; RMS, 1, App. 2, 530, No.
315; Rotuli Scotiae (London, 1819), Vol. 11, 2.

Somerled MacMillan, MacMillans and their Septs (Glasgow, 1952),39 & 99; Lag Charters
Nos. 34 & 40; ER, IX| 380 & 460; RSS, 1, 1, No. 1; ADC, 11, 273; ER, XII, 664 & 673; NAS:
GD.80/168; William Buchanan of Auchmar, “Account of the MacMillans™ in Historical
and Genealogical Essay upon the Family and Surname of Buchanan (1723), 128.

> Auchmar, op. cit., 125, The meanings of MaollMaoile/Maoilean/Maoiline are culled from
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The Highland Society of Scotland, 4 Dictionary of the Gaelic Language (2 Vols., Edinburgh,
1828), 621; and Malcolm MacLennan, 4 Pronouncing and Efymological Dictionary of the
Gaelic Language (Edinburgh, 1925), 221.

* R. M. Buchanan, Notes on the members of the Buchanan Society (Glasgow, 1931). The
family connections between the MacMillans of Dunmore and various Buchanans are set out
in Somerled MacMillan, The MacMillans..., op. cit., 45-48 (see update and corrections on
the Dunmore family in Clan MacMillan Infernational Magazine, No. 2, June 2004). The
charter in which the mythical Methlan is supposed to appear 1s given in William Fraser, The
Lennox (2 Vols., 1874), 402-03.

 Alexander Macbain, Efymological Dictionary of the Gaelic Language (Stirling, 1911), 408;
Alexander Macbain, “Excursus and Notes” to William I. Skene, Higlilanders of Scotland
(Stirling 1902), 417; Alexander Macbain, The Study of Highland Personal Names in CELTIC
REVIEW, VOL. 1I (1906), 73. Gille names in general are discussed in John MacQueen,
Gaelic Speakers of Galloway and Carrick in SCOTTISH STUDIES, XVII (1973), No.l.

¢ Andrew McKerral, Kiniyre in Seventeenth Century (1948).

7 Hugh Macmillan, The Clan Macmillan (London, [901), 1.

> Somerled MacMiilan, The MacMillans..., op. cit., 14; Somerled MacMillan, Bygone Lochaber
(Paisley, 1971), 54, Most of the 200+ spellings of the various forms of the surname M’ millan
are listed in Graeme M. Mackenzie, Origins and Early History of the MacMillans... (Clan
MacMillan Centre, 2001), 94.

 The origin of the name Amuligane/Millikin is given in George F. Black, The Surnames of
Scotland (New York, 1946), 600; while the records of a McMhaoiligan and various Mulikyns
living amongst M’millans on Loch Tayside appear in William A. Gillies, In Famed
Breadalbane (Perth, 1983), 84 & 366-7. For (Mac)Gille-Fhaolagain see Graeme M.
Mackenzie, Origins of the MacLellans in SCOTTISH GENEALOGIST, Vol. XLIX, No. | —
now reprinted as an appendix to the new edition of Richard Torrance’s “The McClellans in
Galloway”.

9 For the Irish names see M.A.Q’Brien {ed), Corpus Genealogiarum Hiberniae (Dublin, 1962);
Donnchadh O’Corrain & Fidelma Maguire, Gaelic Personal Names (Dublin 1981); Robert
Bell, The Book of Ulster Surnames (Belfast 1988).

' Macbain, Stiedy of Highland Personal Names, op. cit., 72. The significance of the sword as
a symbol in the history of both the MacMillans and their cousins the Lenys 1s discussed in
Graeme M. Mackenzie, The de Lanys or Lennies of that Hic in SCOTTISH GENEALOGIST,
VOL. L, No. 1 (March 2003), 22-23. The MacKinnons’ and the MacPhees’ religious
connections in the 1sles are shown 1n Kenneth A. Steer & John W. Bannerman, Late Medieval
Monumental Sculpture in the West Highlands (1977), 100-109 & 119-122.

12 NLS: MSS/MS 1467/r e29-34 - translation in W. F. Skene, Celtic Scotland (3 Vols., Edinburgh
1880), Vol. II1, Appendix VIII, 489. A discussion about the reliability of these pedigrees can
be found in W.D.H.Sellar, “Highland Family Origins in The Middle Ages in the Highlands,
ed. L.Maclean, (Inverness 1981), 103-115. For the Book of Deer entries see Jackson, op. cit.

1> The Leny tree is in NAS: GD.161/Box 17, with copy in J. Guthrie Smith, Strathendrick and
its Inhabitants (1896), 290. Graeme M. Mackenzie, Names M?Gill and Beli in SCOTTISH
GENEALOGIST, VOL. LII, No. 4 (Dec. 2005), 158-164.

14 The Ardross MS, which 1s to be found as NAS: GD.80/965, 1s discussed at length in Graeme
M. Mackenzie, For Ever Unfortunate — The Original Clan Chattan in TGSI, LXI (1998-
2001), 332-370. The John McGilliveille in Muirlaggan of 1684 referred to previously, who’s
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Patna Old Cemetery & Kirkyard: M.I.s Alloway & S. Ayrshire F.H.S.
Peeblesshire: 1841 Census: indexed transcription:

Skirling, Stobo, Traquair, Tweedsmuir, West Linton Graham & Emma Maxwell
Pre 1855 Gravestone Inscriptions in Wester Ross Alastair & Margaret Beattie
- Roxburghshire; 1841 Census: indexed transcription: Hawick Graham & Emma Maxwell
Roxburghshire: 1861 Census: indexed transcription:

Kirkton, Lilliesleaf, Oxnam Graham & Emma Maxwell
Sixteenth & Seventeenth Century Handwriting Series 1 Ann Rycraft comp.
Sixteenth & Seventeenth Century Handwrifing Series 2 Ann Rycraft comp.
Tartans of the Clan Chattan James D. Scarlett
Westerkirk Churchyard: MIs H Brenda I. Morrison comp.

Advertising in
‘The Scottish Genealogist’

Our journal now accepts advertising
for things relevant to genealogy. -

A full page (black and white) 1s £80,
half page £40, and a quarter page 1s £20.

These are the only sizes accepted.

If you, or someone you know, would like to consider
advertising here please email the editor at:

scotsfirstroots@btopenworld.com

QUERIES - LETTERS

The editor welcomes your Letters-to-the-Editor, or genealogical queries.

Queries are free to members, and £2 per enfry for non members.

Email Queries to scotsfirstroots(@btopenworld.com
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SOME RECENT ADDITIONS to the LIBRARY

Compiled by Carol Stubbs

1851 Census Index (Vol C26): Kilmadock Central Scotland F.H.S.
1851 Census Index (Vol C27a): Alloa; Vol.1, A-L Central Scotland F.H.S.
1851 Census Index (Vol C27b): Alloa: Vol.2, M-Z Central Scotland F.H.S.
Alloway Churchyard: M.1.s Alloway & S. Ayrshire F.H.S.
Benwickshire: 1841 Census: indexed transcription:

Abbey St Bathans, Ayton Graham & Emma Maxwell
Burials Pre 1855: other Stirlingshire parishes (Vol.B12):

Bothkennar, Buchanan, Denny, Drymen, Dunipace ... Central Scotland F.H.S.
Caithness: Thurso Parish: 1841 Census Retums Caithness F.H.S.
Chapelhill Graveyard & Logiealmond Cemetery: MIs Margaret Brown & Rae Imrie
Cockbum’s 1864-1977: the rise and fall of a Falkirk foundry R.L. Hunter
Crawtord Story: our heritage: 100 years in Canada 1905-2005 Sharon Dyer et al
Debrett’s People of Today 2000 Debrett’s Peerage
Dumfriesshire: 1851 Census: indexed transcription:

Dumfries, Durisdeer Graham & Emma Maxwell
Edinburgh Goldsmiths’ Minutes 1525-1700

(Scottish Record Society 2006) Henry S. Fothringham editor
Edinburgh & Leith Post Office Directory 1941-42 Post Office Directories
Forgotten Tombstones of Moray Vol.1:

Dipple & Essil, Kirkhill Moray Bunal Ground Research Group
Forgotten Tombstones of Moray Vol.2:

Old Drainie Church Moray Burial Ground Research Group
Gourdon: a brief history of the village & its people 1500-1800 Andrew R.C. Simpson
Gourock and Inverkip Pre 1855 Deaths Lesley Couperwhite
Greenock Deaths Pre 1855 Lesley Couperwhite
Holyrood and Canongate: a thousand years of history E. Patricta Dennison
Index of East Lothian Censuses 1841: Garvald & Bara, Gladsmuir, Salton,

Spott, Stenton, Whitekirk & Tynninghame, Whittingham & Yester Lothians F.H.S.
Index of Midlothian Censuses 1861:

Currie, Kirknewton & East Calder, Lasswade, Mid Calder, Stow Lothians F.H.S.
Islay, Scotland: McLachlans Pat McLachlan comp.
Jaarboek van het Centraal Bureau voor Genealogie 2005  Centraal Bureau voor Genealogie
Kilmacolm and Port Glasgow Pre 1855 Deaths Lesley Couperwhite
Lands & People of Moray: 18" & 19" cenfury burial records

for the Churchyard of Bimie, Moray Bruce B. Bishop comp.
Langholm’s Roll of Honour Alex & Timothy McCracken
Lord Strathcona: a biography of Donald Alex. Smith Donna McDonald
Lost Edinburgh: Edinburgh’s lost architectural heritage Hamish Coghill
McLachlan Family History . Pat McLachlan
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